EUROPEAN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE, FLORENCE

DEPARTMENT OF POLITICAL AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

EUI WORKING PAPER No. 94 COMMUNITY, MARKET, STATE - AND ASSOCIATIONS?

Available Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository.

© The Author(s). European University Institute.

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020.

The Prospective Contribution of Interest Governance to Social Order

by

Wolfgang Streeck / Philippe C. Schmitter

Wolfgang Streeck

International Institute of Management, Berlin European University Institute, Florence

Philippe C. Schmitter European University Institute, Florence University of Chicago

BADIA FIESOLANA, SAN DOMENICO (FI)

This paper should not be reproduced in whole or in part without the prior permission of the authors



(c) Wolfgang Streeck & Philippe C. Schmitter
Printed in Italy in March 1984
Badia Fiesolana
50016 San Domenico di Fiesole (FI)

ITALY

320

EUI

COMMUNITY, MARKET, STATE - AND ASSOCIATIONS?

The Prospective Contribution of Interest Governance to Social Order

Wolfgang Streeck

International Institute of Management, Berlin European University Institute, Florence

and

Philippe C. Schmitter

European University Institute, Florence University of Chicago

(*) A first version of this paper, under the title of "Private Interest Government: Order Beyond or Between Community, Market and State?" was presented at the Sixth Colloquium of the European Group for Organizational Studies (EGOS) in Florence, November 3-5, 1983. We thank Bill Coleman, Henry Jacek, Patrick Kenis and other participants in the Colloquium for their comments and criticism.

and constructions

- 利用の見て、利用により見た良いになった。1.11、1.446月のため

ane the the statistic

Fig. 4. Elements of each of the payons weekend the could be a construction of elements of a construction of the constructio

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Three models of social order - or four? | 1 |
|--|----|
| A brief excursus on community, market and state | 5 |
| An associative model of social order | 11 |
| Public policy and the associative model of social order. The concept of "private interest government" | 19 |
| The organizational dynamics of private interest governments | 23 |
| The functional advantages of private interest government | 29 |
| Private interest government as a "mixed mode" of policy-making | 33 |
| Conclusion | 37 |
| Footnotes | 39 |
| References | 41 |

TABLES

| Table | I: | The Properties of 'Community', 'Market' and 'State' Social Order | 6 |
|-------|-----|---|----|
| Table | II: | The Properties of an Associative Model | 10 |
| | | of Social Order | 13 |

PAGE

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository. Development of the state of the © The Author(s). European University Institute.

THREE MODELS OF SOCIAL ORDER - OR FOUR?

Ask a contemporary social scientist the question: "How is social order possible?" and she or he will likely answer--if at all--with a model. No one can possibly observe directly or comprehend totally how such an enormous multitude of independent actors with diverse motives can interact in so many different and changing ways, and yet somehow manage to produce (or better, reproduce) something approaching "order". Even to begin to grasp how something so incredibly complex works requires a feat of great intellectual pretension and radical analytical simplification. Previously, this could be attempted with organic metaphors or mechanistic analogies; today we feel compelled to offer more explicit and complex "models of society" or "social order". These abstractions reduce the variety of actors to a few ideal types, assign to them a restricted menu of passions or interests, allow them to cooperate and conflict with each other according to certain patterns or rules, and postulate that all this interaction will result in something called "an which the actual behaviour of persons equilibrium"--a state in and collectivities is both mutually adjusted and predictably variable. Moreover, such models usually pretend not merely to be empirically correct, but also to be normatively proper, i.e. they postulate that if societies were indeed ordered in the stipulated manner, beneficial results would ensue for most, if not all, of their members who would, therefore, accept such an arrangement as natural and legitimate.

- 1 -

Given the magnitude of the intellectural task involved, it is not surprising that there are few such general models available. Three of them seem to have virtually dominated philosophical speculation and social science thought. They tend to be identified by the central institution which embodies (and enforces) their respective and distinctive guiding principles: the Community, the Market, and the State (or the Bureaucracy)--although it might

be more accurate to label them according to the principles themselves: solidarity, dispersed competition and hierarchical control. spontaneous Clearly, however dominant any one of these three may have been at a given moment and/or for a given set of actors, almost everyone would concede that modern societies/polities/economies can only be analyzed in terms of some mix of them. Today, social scientists in their separate disciplines seem to be groping toward concepts for identifying these multifaceted combinations and interactions. While some point out the conflicts and incompatibilities three ordering principles; others emphasize their mutual between the Thus, communities may undermine markets by facilitating complementarities. informal collusion and supporting clientelistic arrangements; whereas market competition may decompose community bonds and erode common value orientations. But it is also true that communities encourage mutual confidence and "good faith" which are necessary for stable economic exchange, while markets "extended reproduction". communities with opportunities for provide Similarly, state intervention may distort markets, just as the outcome of free contracts and competition may contradict state policies. At the same time, markets require a legal framework and the authoritative enforcement of contracts, and even the most etatistic states seem to require markets as a supplementary mechanism of allocation. Finally, there are a number of ways in which communities may suffer disintegration as a result of state growth and government intervention, just as communitarian "tribalism" can frustrate the development of a stable nation-state. Nevertheless, a state without some kind of spontaneous solidarity among its citizens is no more than a bureaucratic or military conspiracy, and modern communities without a state would always be in danger of losing their identity and independence.

This paper will not explore further the relationships, the linkages and the proper balance between community, market and state. While we agree that it is essentially in different mixes of institutions and in the interaction of

- 2 -

different modes of coordination that the answer to the question of social found, we suggest that there exists, in advanced order is to be industrial/capitalist societies, a distinctive fourth institutional basis of order which is more than a transient and expedient amalgam of the three others and, hence, capable of making a lasting and autonomous contribution to rendering the behavior of social actors reciprocally adjustive and If we labeled this additional source of social order after its predictable. embodying institution, we would call it "the Association" (1)-in contrast to "the Community", "the Market" and "the State". If we were to identify it by its guiding principle of interaction and allocation, we would call it "organizational concertation"--in contrast to "spontaneous solidarity", "dispersed competition" and "hierarchical coordination".

Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute.

The Author(s).

© The Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020.

Why assign to associations such an elevated theoretical status, coequal to community, market and state? The background of our argument is the emergence in Western societies of systems of bargained interest accomodation and policy concertation in the 1960s and 1970s (Berger 1981, Crouch and Pizzorno 1978, Goldthorpe forthcoming, Lehmbruch and Schmitter 1982, Schmitter and Lehmbruch 1979). On the basis of accumulated research, we are now convinced that the logic according to which these systems operate cannot be reduced to the respective logics of community, market and state, or explained by ad hoc mixes of these (2). One purpose of this paper is to explore this "fourth" logic more systematically and to show in what sense it is different from the others. We believe that it is only through an explicit recognition of the specific contribution of associations and organized concertation to social order, that we can arrive at a better understanding of today's "bargained" economies and societies. We also believe that an improved the actual and potential role of associations may understanding of significantly increase the range of strategic alternatives for the solution of public policy problems. We are aware of the fact that, empirically,

associations are of different importance in different countries, sectors and policy areas, but as the same applies no less to the three other ordering principles, we do not think that this, by itself, speaks against our argument.

The idea that associations may provide a distinctive basis for social order is, of course, not entirely new, and we will call upon some prominent witnesses further on. Nevertheless, by the mainstream of modern social and political thought, associations have always been regarded much more as a source of disorder. Usually the history of democratic/industrialized societies is presented as consisting of two main periods: the expansion of markets into pre-existing communities in the nineteenth century, and the expansion of the interventionist state into the new market economy in the twentieth century. Associations were in both periods regarded with suspicion: in the first one, they were seen as impediments to the development of a free market; in the second one, they were viewed as obstacles to the growth of the (democratic) state-a perception that was reinforced by the authoritarian corporatist experiences of some countries in the interwar years. In spite of historical evidence to the contrary and occasional theoretical dissent, this tendency to discuss associations mainly in terms of their actual or potential dysfunctions for the three other, more established bases of order has continued to dominate the scene.

In part, this may be explained by the fact that community, market and state all have their specialized professional advocates within the social sciences, while accociations typically had to put up with individual dissidents from a variety of disciplines. Thus, sociologists, following the forceful lead of Robert Michels, have been relentless in demonstrating that modern interest associations tend to become "alienated" from the values of the communities they purport to represent. Similarly, economists--as far as we know, without exception--have treated associations as cartels, and associative action as a major cause of inefficient, suboptimal resource allocation.

- 4 -

Finally, political scientists and public lawyers have, in their great majority, regarded associations as a threat to liberal democracy, parliamentary rule and state sovereignty, pointing to phenomena such as industrial action in defiance of legislation, "colonization" of state regulatory agencies, or the undermining of parliamentary sovereignty by "social pacts" negotiated between the government and strong interest groups.

Our point is not that these observations are entirely mistaken. What we are saying, however, is that they are one-sided. The fact that associative action may be dysfunctional for the three (other) institutional bases of social order—a fact that we by no means wish to contest—does by itself not rule out the possibility that it may also contribute to order. As we have seen, community, market and state have dysfunctions for each other as well. What is important is that they at the same time require one another for their respective functioning; and that there are specific problems of order that each of them is better equipped to resolve than the others. The same, we submit, can be said of associations.

A BRIEF EXCURSUS ON COMMUNITY, MARKET AND STATE

The dominant models of social order are so well known—even if their guiding principles are not often rendered explicit—that we can pass over them quickly. Each of them has its own postulated integrity, autonomy and tendency towards equilibrium and reproductivity. Each has distinctive properties and processes, and each corresponds to distinctive aspects of the human condition. In Table I we have laid out schematically twelve elements which might be said to comprise any comprehensive, if radically simplified, understanding of social order, and then suggested the different "answers" which the three classical models have to offer. Because the market model has been used so

- 5 -

-ulevob Authoritative formal adjudication Legitimate control over the means predictable treatment. Efficient etc. External security, Equitable and Subjects (taxpayers, law abiders, conscripts, etc.) Civil Servants, Glients, Claimants of coercion, authoritative Distribution of positions. Administrative & legal exper-Conflicts between levels of ment. Interstate rivalries. tise, Procedural correctness "Maximizing predictability" Superiors vs. Subordinates mobilization of resources Imperative certification Overlaps of jurisdiction Authoritative regulation Bureaucratic stability istrative procedures Bureaucratic agencies Hierarchical control Legal authorization, Career advancement, Fear of punishment "Minimizing risk", Collective Goods Rulers vs. Ruled "Jurisdiction" Formal admin-Coercion STATE "Minimum winning coalition" Producers vs. Consumers / Incumbents vs. Opposition Territorial. Ethnic. Relig-Importers vs. Exporters / Entrepreneurs/Politicians ious, Linguistic, Ideolo-"Maximizing advantage" / Calculative rationality Citizen accountability stitutional guarantees Contracts/Incumbencies Sellers vs. Buyers / Capital vs. Labour / Property rights/Con-Material prosperity/ Dispersed competition Consumers & Workers / gical divisions, etc. Parties vs. Voters Eligibility to vote Exercise of "voice" Economic/Political Material benefit / Consumer/Majority Electoral victory entrepreneurship. ~ Firms / Parties Ability to pay Private Goods Money / Votes preference Profit / Voters MARKET Clan rivalries, Generation Mutual affection, Collectgaps, Conflicts over turf, Desire to share in common values Natives vs. Foreigners Spontaneous solidarity "Satisfying identity" Communes. Localities Unanimous agreement Predominant NORMATIVE-LECAL Customary practices Inheritance claims. Belonging to group. Esteem of followers Solidaristic Goods Personal disputes Ascriptive member Inherited Status Clans, Lineages, Common consent, Respect, Trust, ive identity Sodal ities AT INUMMOD Families Compacts status Esteen Principal LINE OF CLEAVAGE Principal DECISION RULE(S) actor entry and inclusion produced and distributed Predominant RESOURCE(S) Enabling CONDITIONS for Principal MOTIVE(S) of . COMMON MDTIVE/CALCULUS Principal PAV-OFF(S) superordinate actors Modal TYPE OF COODS Principal PRODUCT OF Principal MOTIVE(S) B of coordination and Predominant, modal, subordinate actors Guiding PRINCIPLE Principal MEDIUM EXCHANCE collective ACTOR Other CLEAVAGES Other ACTORS FOUNDATION allocation EXCHANGE 10. 11. 12. n . ~ œ 0 e + ni

'MARKET' AND 'STATE' SOCIAL COMMUNITY' OF THE PROPERTIES

TABLE I:

ORDER

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository. The Author(s). European University Institute.

6 --

extensively to explain the structure, not only of the competitive allocation of material goods and services according to consumer preferences in a capitalist economy, but also of the competitive interaction between political parties in pursuit of voter preferences in democratic elections, we have split this column into two parallel sub-routines for the economic and the political market.

7 -

At the core of the different assumptions about actors, conditions, means, resources, decision rules, lines of cleavage, types of goods and normative-legal foundations lie the central and controversial questions of what motivates super- and subordinate individuals to engage in social action and what makes them respect and accept the collective outcomes which ensue from their efforts at obtaining their specific satisfactions. In the ideal community. chiefs, notables, leaders, etc., desire the esteem of their followers, while the latter seek a sense of belonging to and participating in the group as such. Together they satisfy their mutual needs for a shared affective existence and a distinctive collective identity. In the perfect economic/electoral market, economic/political entrepreneurs seek to maximize their profits/electoral support in exchange for which their consumers/voters expected to be content with the material benefits arising from are competition/the impact on public policy of electoral "voice". The arrangement is legitimated by greater than otherwise obtainable economic prosperity of consuming publics and political accountability of governing Finally, in the ideal-typical state bureaucracy, allocational elites. decisions are made through "public policies" that are enforced, with the ultimate backing of the state's monopoly on legitimate coercion, by civil servants striving to satisfy their dominant interest in career advancement and bureaucratic stability, on subjects that strive to avoid punishment; both do so by minimizing risks and maximizing predictability through following agreedupon procedures and regulations. The system "works" if it is successful in

protecting all actors from domination by external actors and in affording equitable and predictable treatment to all.

None of these orders is intrinsically harmonious or conflict-free. A11 have embedded in them an axial line of cleavage which is a source of continual tension. as numerous other cleavages which may arise more as well Communities have the general problem of dealing with the episodically. relations between native members and "foreigners" who have somehow gotten into their midst or who wish to do so; economic markets have to deal with the basic conflict of interest between sellers and buyers (of products as well as of factors of production, e.g. capital and labor), just as political markets must cope with the conflicting claims of parties and voters; states are divided by the perpetual dispute over the privileges which rulers arrogate to themselves and the obligations which they impose on the ruled. Presumably, however, these lines of cleavage are at least containable, if not resolvable, as long as each order applies and respects its own decision rules. Communities may by incorporate foreigners within their ranks-if properly consent cormon socialized-or they may expell them if they behave improperly. Markets for goods and services, by responding through investment to the preferences of consumers, may provide for a Pareto-optimal allocation of resources that gives all participants the maximum possible satisfaction, or for sufficient pay-offs to induce workers and consumers to accept the property rights of capitalists In the electoral market-place, majoritarian winners may gain and producers. the contingent consent of minoritarian losers by assuring them that future contests will be fairly conducted and could result in a reversal of fortune in office-holding and policy-making. States can effectively mitigate the tensions between rulers and ruled by following recognized procedures in establishing entitlements to positions and benefits and by adjudicating fairly and authoritatively all disputes that may arise.

- 8 -

The main threats to the integrity, persistence and legitimacy of these three orders are not likely to come from within but from without. The sharpest and most potentially destructive conflicts are generated when the principles, actors, media of exchange, resources, motives, decision rules, and lines of cleavage from the different "orders" compete with each other for the allegiance of specific groups, for the control of scarce resources, for the incorporation of new issues, for the definition of rules regulating exchanges between them, and so forth. Politics with, or within, the respective orders is one thing; politics between them quite another matter. Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute.

Open Access on

© The Author(s). Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available

Nor can such dramatic and uncertain conflicts be avoided. Under the conditions described generically as "modernity", the three orders of community, market and state have come to depend upon each other and to be affected increasingly by each other's unresolved problems and externalities. Communities without states did exist in the past, but there are few left, just as it is hard to imagine even the most isolated or self-encapsulated community which does not draw some of its resources from commercialized economic innumerable analysts have pointed out, capitalist market exchanges. As relations would be self-destructive without the persistence of some degree of trust, deference, esteem and consent rooted in communitarian practices, and they could not even exist if public authority were not present to ensure the policing of contracts--not to mention the myriad of other facilities that the modern state places at the disposition of producers and consumers, capitalists Even the most ideal-typical bureaucratic state, whatever its and workers. linkage with an open, competitive party system and electoral marketplace, must depend upon the performance of "its" economy (and increasingly that of other economies) to generate the financial resources necessary for protecting its "legitimate control over the means of coercion" and for remunerating those who occupy its positions of imperative coordination and authoritative allocation. matter how "formal-rational" a state's administrative apparatus may seem, No

the efficacy of its everyday decisions depends to a substantial extent on the voluntary compliance and socialized identification of its subjects who associate it with a particular nation, ethnic group, religion or "community of Especially in moments of crisis which call for exceptional effort and fate". sacrifice, states will find themselves drawing heavily on their "community account", as well as upon their economic resources and plebiscitary support. So, to an increasing extent, modern societies find themselves immeshed in the interstices between the three "orders". After lamenting "the decline of community", attention was focused on "the politicization and bureaucratic regulation of the economy". More recently, we have become aware of the "limits state power" when confronted with market adjustments and of communitarian identities. One way in which these "immeshed" societies have been coping with this situation is by generating an increasing variety and number of institutions of a new type for intermediating between the conflicting demands of these established orders. As part of this effort to control the externalities of the three classical orders, advanced industrialized societies have rediscovered and begun to revive a fourth, additional basis of order, associations and organizational concertation. This development has not been guided by some recognizable, over-arching principle justified by any comprehensive ideology. It rather consists of disparate, or uneven and pragmatic responses to particular dysfunctions and conflicts. The emerging pattern is, therefore, confused and tentative, and it is not at all clear whether it will in fact consolidate itself, or whether it will turn out to be no more than an ad hoc, temporary and contingent set of "mixed" responses to ephemeral crises and events. In the following, we will try to describe and analyze the underlying principles of this pattern as best we can discern them.

AN ASSOCIATIVE MODEL OF SOCIAL ORDER

The idea of a distinctive associative order is not new to modern social and political thought. Hegel, for example, had an elaborate, if not particularly accessible, conception of how Korporationen emerged from civil society as its highest organized expression and laid the basis (the second "sittliche Wurzel", alongside the family) for "the universal, substantial He was followed by Fichte, Schlegel, von Ketteler, von Vogelsang, La state". du Pin, de Mun, von Gierke, Spann and others-all of whom advocated some Tour form of corporative-organic social order as a response to the "anomic" structure of the emerging market. With Rerum Novarum (1891) and Quadragesimo (1931). this became an integral part of Roman Catholic doctrine. On a Anno more secular note, Saint-Simon was promoting the idea of "associationnisme", as early as the 1830s, as an alternative to capitalism. Even more important, perhaps, was Durkheim with his concept of professional corporations as the basis of "organic solidarity" in modern societies institutional main characterized by a highly developed division of labour. Indirectly, these models inspired contemporary institutions such as Mitbestimmung, Autogestion, etc., and have prepared an ideological basis, often via Social Democracy, for the growing importance of associations and organizational concertation.

Of course, the <u>fact</u> of a distinctive associative order has always been on historical display, so-to-speak, in the experience of the late medieval cities of Italy, France, Catalonia, the Rhineland and Northern Europe whose social and political system was based on a guild structure. Hence, when John Maynard Keynes reflected on the consequences of "The End of Laissez-Faire" and searched for a new order "somewhere between the individual and the modern state", he naturally looked backward to those experiences and proposed "a return, it may be said, towards medieval conceptions of separate autonomies".

- 11 -

Let us follow Lord Keynes' suggestion and see what such a neo-medieval order might look like if it were to emerge in the contemporary world.

At its core is a distinctive principle of interaction and allocation among a privileged set of actors. The key actors are (Table II) organizations defined by their common purpose of defending and promoting functionallydefined interests, i.e. class, sectoral and professional associations. The central principle is that of concertation, or negotiation within and among a limited and fixed set of interest organizations that mutually recognize each other's status and entitlements and that are capable of reaching and implementing relatively stable compromises (pacts) in the pursuit of their interests. A corporative-associative order is, therefore, based primarily on interdependent complex organizations. interaction within and between Secondary interactions involve the relations between these associations and their members (including non-members directly affected by the agreements reached) and their interlocutors--outside actors whose resources or support are necessary for the concerted compromise to take effect (often, state agencies), and/or whose interests are indirectly affected by the externalities generated by such agreements (e.g. political parties and social movements).

It is when we turn to "enabling conditions", that the distinctiveness of corporative-associative action becomes most manifest, especially in contrast to pluralist theories of pressure politics. For some time, the predominant way of analyzing associative collective action relied on an uneasy amalgam of community and market models. According to it, "interest groups" sprung into existence "naturally" and acted autonomously on the basis of a unity of shared norms and interest definitions—both Communitarian assumptions. They attracted members on a voluntary basis, formed into multiple, overlapping units, entered into shifting "parallelograms of group forces" according to the issue at hand, used whatever means tended to produce the best immediate results, and won influence roughly proportional to the intensity of their

THE PROPERTIES OF AN ASSOCIATIVE MODEL OF SOCIAL ORDER TABLE II:

| | - 13 | 1 - • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • |
|----------|--|--|
| | | |
| | TABLE II: THE PROPERTIES OF AN | ASSOCIATIVE MODEL OF SOCIAL ORDER |
| | TABLE II. THE PROPERTIES OF AN | ASSOCIATIVE MODEL OF SOCIAL ONDER |
| | | |
| | Guiding PRINCIPLE of Interaction and Allocation | Inter- and Intra-organizational concertation |
| 2. | Predominant, modal, COLLECTIVE ACTOR Other ACTORS | Functionally defined interest associations, Members (firms, consortia, individuals, social groupings), Interlocutors (state agencies, parties, movements) |
| 3. | Enabling CCNDITIONS for actor entry and inclusion | Capacity for mutual disruption, Attainment of monopoly status, Willingness and capacity to compromise, Symmetry of organizational capacity |
| k. 8. | Principal MEDIUM OF EXCHANGE | Mutual recognition of status and entitlements; Compliance of members Pacts |
| . | Predominant RESOURCE(S) | Compliance of members Pacts Guaranteed access, Compulsory contribution and membership, Institutionalized forums of repres- antation, Centralization, Comprehensive scope, Jurisdiction and Control over member behaviour. Delagated tasks, Inter-organizational trust Expansion of organizational role, Crganizational development, Career advancement |
| . | Principal MOTIVE(S) of superordinate actors Principal MOTIVE(S) of subordinate actors Common MOTIVE/CALCULUS | |
| 3. | Principal DECISION RULE(S) | Lessened uncertainty, Proportional shares, "Satisficing (mini-maxing) interests" Parity Representation, Proportional adjustment, Concurrent consent |
| 9. | Modal TYPE OF GOODS produced and distributed | Categoric goods |
| 0. | Principal LINES OF CLEAVAGE Other CLEAVAGES | Members vs. Associational Leaders vs. (State) Interlocutors Included vs. Excluded (social movements) Well organized vs. Less well organized Established vs. Rival Associations Over vs. Under-represented Majority vs. Minority Segments National vs. Regional vs. Local Interests (parties, maverick enterprises, community representatives, local notables) |
| 1. | Predominant NORMATIVE-LEGAL FOUNDATION | Pacta sunt servanda, Freedom of association |
| 12. | Principal PAY-OFF(S) | Less class exploitation, More symmetric distri- bution of benefits, Greater predictability and stability of socio-economic outcomes (Social Peace |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

preferences and the magnitude of their resources--all characteristics of market-like relations. The neo-corporatist paradigm which emerged in European political science in the mid-1970s attacked these assumptions head-on. First, the assault was made largely on descriptive grounds, showing that the assumptions of "pluralism" did not fit recent empirical developments in the politics of advanced industrial/capitalist societies. Only later, after much conceptual speculation and empirical enquiry, there emerged a growing conviction that the conditions which enable interest associations to enter and be included in certain influence games are so specific, and the rules of these games so distinctive, that they constitute a separate logic of collective action and social order. Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute.

Available

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020.

© The Author(s).

In a first approximation, this logic can be characterized as follows. a community order, actor preferences and choices are interdependent based In shared norms and jointly produced satisfaction. In a market order, the on actions of competitors are supposed to be independent since no one singular action can have a determinant and predictable impact upon the eventual allocation of satisfactions. In a state order, the actors are dependent upon hierarchical coordination which makes their choices heteronomously determined and asymmetrically predictable according to the structure of legitimate authority and coercive capability. In a corporative-associative order, actors are contingently or strategically interdependent in the sense that actions of organized collectivities can have a predictable and determinant effect (positive or negative) on the satisfaction of other collectivities' interests, and this induces them to search for relatively stable pacts. To reach this stage, the contracting interest associations have to have attained some degree of symmetry in their respective resources, especially in their capability for representing the interests and controlling the behavior of their members (and where necessary outside mavericks), and an effective monopoly in their status as intermediaries for a given class, sector or profession. As long as

interest associations are fragmented into rival communities, organized into overlapping, competing markets for members and/or resources, completely dependent upon voluntary member support, or manipulated from above by state authority, the enabling conditions for corporative-associative order do not exist.

The medium or "currency" of the associative model consists predominantly of mutual recognition of status and entitlements. Of course, concerted groups may bring to bear on a given issue customary solidarities, monetary resources, bloc votes and even threats of coercion should the negotiative process break down, but, fundamentally, they are making demands on each other -- informing each other about the magnitude and intensity of their preferences and their likely courses of action if agreement is not reached-and offering in return satisfaction of these interests to deliver the compliance of their for the members. This scambio politico, to use an expression which has gained considerable currency in Italy, obviously depends on whether the minimal, enabling conditions have been met, but its efficacy is greatly enhanced if, as the result of iterative efforts at concertation, the participating associations have acquired new resources. Many of those listed under this rubrique in Table II: guaranteed access, compulsory membership and/or contributions, institutionalized forums of representation, centralized coordination, comprehensive scope, jurisdiction and control over member behavior and delegated tasks of policy implementation depend crucially on the response of one key interlocutor, namely the state, which must be willing and to use its key resource: legitimate control over coercion and able authoritative distribution of positions, to promote and/or protect such The "motivational structure" of corporative associability is, developments. perhaps, not as distinctive as many of its other attributes, at least for Like their confrères in state agencies, their motives superordinate actors. should be largely determined by the imperatives of the formal organizational

context within which they operate and from which they draw their resources. At the center of these are desires for organizational development, expansion, stability and strategic autonomy (Schmitter and Streeck 1981). Eventually, this should lead to a professionalization of management within interacting associations and a consequent decline in their dependence on voluntary support and elected leadership.

The motives of subordinate actors (i.e. members) are more difficult to discern since they are obviously being forced to give up what may often be opportunistically attractive possibilities for acting individually or through less formal groups, in exchange for accepting to be bound by compromised, longer-term and more general obligations negotiated for them by their respective class, sectoral or professional associations. This may be less of a problem for categories of interest where individual actors are very weak and dispersed (e.g. farmers, workers, petty bourgeois), but could pose a serious challenge in those categories where "going-it-alone" through market power or state influence is a promising alternative (e.g. capitalists and some privileged professions). Presumably, what motivates a subordinate to conform to associationally negotiated pacts is lesser uncertainty about aggregate outcomes and higher assurance of receiving a proportionally more "equitable" share of whatever is disputed. If one adds to these the probability that certain conditions of macro-societal performance (e.g. in terms of inflation, unemployment and strike rates) will be superior in societies whose markets have been "tamed" by associative action, then we have an even greater reason for understanding member conformity. Basically what seems to happen is a shift in the "rationality" of social choice. In communities, the calculus "satisfying identity", in markets, economic or political, on rests on "maximizing advantage"/building "minimum winning coalitions", in states on "minimizing risk" and "maximizing predictability". What associations in a corporative order strive for is something more prosaic, but quite rational

given the structural complexity and informational overload of modern society, namely "satisficing interests". By deliberate mutual adjustment and repeated interaction, these comprehensive, monopolistically privileged actors avoid the temptation to exploit momentary advantages to the maximum, and the pitfall of landing in the worst possible situation. In short, they avoid the prisoner's dilemma through inter-organizational trust backed by what we shall call below "private interest government". The price for this is a lengthy deliberation process and a series of "second-best" compromised solutions which are often difficult to justify on aesthetic or normative grounds.

Communities decide by unanimous consent, markets by consumer or majority preference, states by authoritative adjudication and imperative certification. Corporative associations decide by highly complicated formulae which start with parity representation (regardless of members or functional clout), work through a process of sequential proportional adjustments based either on "splitting-the-difference" or "package-dealing" arrangements, and then ratify the final pact by concurrent consent. All this takes time and is vulnerable to substantive and normative assaults coming from communitarian, market and state sources. Usually, deliberations are kept informal and secretive in an insulate them as much as possible from outside pressures or from effort to dissidents within the associational ranks. The "weighting" of influences and the consequent calculation of proportional justice or equity involve often arbitrary standards and mysterious processes -- nothing like the neat decision of solidaristic unanimity, consumer sovereighty, minimal winning rules majority or authoritative decree characteristic of the other orders. These elements of citizen unaccountability and proportional inequality--combined with the unavoidably compromised nature of the decisions made--can create a "legitimacy deficit" and expose corporative-associative rather serious structures to normative challenges by proponents of the competing orders of community, market and state (3).

- 17 -

The final structural element we need to discuss in this exploratory description of an ideal-typical associative social order is its lines of cleavage. Here, the principal configuration is tripolar rather than bipolar as in the three other orders. Associational leaders find themselves, Janusin conflict with their members on one side and their (state) like. interlocutors on the other. While the behavior and the interests of the members are strongly conditioned by competitive market forces, state officials are primarily concerned with upholding and advancing the hierarchical coordinative capacities and the bureaucratic jurisdiction of the state. This does not necessarily leave those in the middle with much room for manoeuvre. Either economic market forces may prove too strong to be contained by associational compromise; or electoral competition may bring to power parties representing "true" citizen interests which will dismantle associational rule; or state officials, wary of excessive devolution of "their" authority to associations they cannot fully control, will simply outlaw them (not to mention the fact that, in some countries, courts may declare associational pacts illegal under the Constitution or anti-trust laws). It may only be a question of which of these gets sufficiently aroused first: opportunistic capitalists, radically mobilized workers, outraged voters, offended civil servants (or strict constructionist judges). In addition, the corporativeassociative order also has a number of secondary cleavages to cope with, not the least of which is that between those interests which are organized into it and those, less organized or less functionally specifiable, which are excluded from it.

PUBLIC POLICY AND THE ASSOCIATIVE MODEL OF SOCIAL ORDER. THE CONCEPT OF "PRIVATE INTEREST GOVERNMENT".

Although it is possible to construct a model of an associative order that possesses a certain internal logic, a rather complete set of attributes a vague correspondence to possible solutions to some of the functional and problems in the interstices between community, market and state in advanced industrial/capitalist societies, this by itself says nothing about its presence and relative importance in social and political reality. Making such as assumption would be to compound a rationalist with a functionalist fallacy. There is, however, a large and growing body of research on the contribution of associational structures to social order, often but by no means exclusively guided by theories of "neo-corporatism" (Schmitter 1974, 1977) (4). The lively interest which this concept has stimulated among social scientists may in itself be an indication that the associative mode of social order has gained, or is gaining, in importance. Moreover, it seems that many of the present political controversies in Western industrialized countries can be described, and better understood, in terms of a search for a new balance, not just between community, market and state, but also between these three and a growing realm of associative action.

In the past four decades, the politics of many Western countries seem to have been bound up in a continuous oscillation between state interventionism on the one hand and market liberalism on the other. Today, after the "long wave" of increasing state interventionism in the late 1960s and early 1970s, the limits and dysfunctions of public bureaucratic regulation have again become a major issue for both the political right and the political left. Catchwords such as "de-regulation", "de-bureaucratization", "<u>Entstaatlichung</u>", "<u>Staatsentlastung</u>", etc. have come to figure prominently in political discourse. Most of the current proposals for a retrenchment of the role of the state center on a return to either the <u>market</u> or the <u>community</u> as sources of social order. While it is the reinstatement of the market that is at the core of the demands of the powerful neo-liberal movement, off-loading the welfare state to voluntary community action is by no means incompatible with neo-liberal values. Greater reliance on "community" is also advocated by a wide range of other groups--from adherents to the Catholic doctrine of "subsidiarity", to various "autonomous" and "alternative" social movements that have otherwise little in common with neo-liberalism and that in particular would not want to ally themselves with its call for "more market". Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute.

© The Author(s).

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available

However, for all its powerful influence on the public mind, the widely accepted antinomy of state vs. market/community appears to be insufficiently complex for both analytical and practical purposes. For one thing, the swing of the pendulum of public policy seems to be different in different countries, with some countries being much less torn between the two extremes than others. As it happens, these countries tend to be those that have relatively strong institutions, often described as "neo-corporatist", of associational and regulation-e.g. Austria, Norway, Sweden, inter-associational conflict Switzerland, West Cermany. Institutions of this kind, in addition to "mediating" between the state and the market, seem to limit the extent to which the two can invade each other and enlarge their domain at each other's In this way, they seem to inject an element of stability in their expense. respective polities that makes them less subject to changing political Also, an elaborate intermediary associational structure seems to fachions. a country's répértoire of policy alternatives--its "requisite enlarge variety"---and this may enable such countries to respond to new problems without having to undergo dramatic internal realignments.

From the viewpoint of public policy, neo-corporatism amounts to an attempt to assign to interest associations a distinct role between the state and "civil society" (market and community) so as to put to public purposes the

Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository European University Institute. Open Access on © The Author(s). Library in 2020. Available Digitised version produced by the EUI

that associations can generate and embody. As an type of social order alternative to direct state intervention and regulation, the "public use of private organized interests" takes the form of the establishment, under state licence and assistance, of "private interest governments" with devolved public responsibilites--of agencies of regulated self-regulation of social groups with special interests that are made subservient to general interests by appropriately designed institutions. The specificity of this strategy lies, above all, in the kind of interests on which it is based, and in the way in which they are treated. This becomes clearer when one compares it to the two alternative strategies of Staatsentlastung. The neo-liberal restauration of aims essentially at the liberation of individual self-interests the market from bureaucratic-regulatory constraints. It is based on the assumption that individuals act most rationally if they are free to pursue their interests as and that in the end, this will benefit everybody. Devolving they see fit. functions to the community amounts to an attempt to marshall collective state other-regarding interests for social purposes; its underlying premise is that people hold solidaristic values and communitarian identities that, just as their self-interests, can contribute to social order directly and without state coordination. Both premises may or may not be correct. What they have in common is that they draw on widely accepted assumptions about the motivation and behavior of individuals. By contrast, the corporativeassociative delegation of public policy functions to private interest governments represents an attempt to utilize the collective self-interest of social groups to create and maintain a generally acceptable social order, and it is based on assumptions about the behavior of organizations as transforming individual interests. This makes the idea of responsible agents of governance inevitably more abstract and remote from everyday associative experience than both the neo-liberal appeal to individual self-interest and the neo-communitarian appeal to group altruism, and here-in the intellectual

- 21 -

complexity and, indeed, counterintuitiveness of the idea that organized special interests could be turned into promoters of the public interest--seems to lie one explanation for the lack of public attention that it has so far received.

"Private government" is a concept that has had some currency in the social sciences, and a short definitional excursus may be appropriate. Firstly, the term has been applied to an extremely wide range of phenomena, from subjudicial legal dispute settlement to the Irish Republican Army (Macaulay 1983), large business corporations (McConnell 1966, Buxbaum 1982) and/or their top management (Bauer and Cohen 1983), the professions (Gilb 1966), the universities (Lakoff and Rich 1973), all kinds of para-state agencies, quangoes, community welfare organizations (Thompson 1983) etc., etc. In this article, we speak of "private interest government" to emphasize that we are exclusively concerned with the self-"government" of categories of social actors defined by a collective self-regarding interest. Secondly, the concept to "private government" is often associated with the notion of an illegitimate use of power (Lowi 1979), for example when Bauer and Cohen (1981) define "private governments" by their capacity to preempt and frustrate public (industrial) policy. For our part, we prefer to reserve the concept for arrangements under which an attempt is made to make associative, selfinterested collective action contribute to the achievement of public policy objectives. In generic terms, this is the case where it is in the interest of an organized group to strive for a "categoric good" which is partially compatible or identical with a "collective good" for the society as a whole. We maintain that such compatibility or identity may be more frequent than is commonly held (4). We also maintain that the extent to which categoric and collective goods overlap depends, within limits, on two factors: on the way in interests are organized into associative structures and which group processes, and on a complex bargaining process between organized group

interests and the state--i.e. between the governments of private and public interests.

- 23 -

following sections of this paper will focus successively on three The selected aspects of the phenomenon of "private interest government"--a a functional and a structural one. Since the genesis of private genetic. interest government can in an important sense be conceived of as a process of organizational change, the first part of the discussion will be devoted to the possible contribution of organization theory to an improved understanding of an associative social order. Secondly, in functional terms, we will briefly outline in what sense we think private interest government may contribute to the functioning and, hence, compensate for the deficiencies of community action, market competition, and state intervention. Finally, concerning the structure of private interest government, we want to point out the essential role played within it by elements of spontaneous solidarity, dispersed competition, and hierarchical control.

THE ORGANIZATIONAL DYNAMICS OF PRIVATE INTEREST GOVERNMENTS

Private governance in a corporative-associative order is based on group self-interest. It is the result of an organizational dynamic by which pluralist interest representation is transformed into neo-corporatist interest intermediation. This dynamic can, we suggest, be analysed in three dimensions: the relationship between <u>organizations and interests</u>; the role of <u>public status</u> in the shaping of interest organizational structures and functions; and the impact of <u>political-organizational design</u>. In each of these dimensions, the phenomenon of private government poses difficult problems for organization theory and may demand a re-orientation of prevailing theoretical paradigms.

Organizations and Interests. Mainstream organizational theory has (1) tended to treat interest associations with caution. It has preferred to deal with "harder", more formalized, types of organizations coming from the more established orders of the market and the state: business firms, public agencies, hospitals, prisons, or military units--whose boundaries are easier to define, whose centers of decision-making are easier to locate, and whose performance is easier to assess against an imputed standard of instrumental rationality. Where interest associations have been studied, they have been conceptualized in the pluralist tradition as "voluntary organizations" catering to, and exclusively dependent upon, the perceived interests of a given constituency. Tendencies toward organizational autonomy from members' perceptions have generally been regarded as a perversion of interest "organizational democracy" and have been interpreted, very much in the Michelsian tradition, as oligarchic "goal displacement" under the influence of a "dominant coalition" of power-wielding functionaries.

Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute

© The Author(s).

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available

The negligent treatment of interest associations in organization theory seems less that adequate when confronted with the empirical reality of interest group self-regulation. The important present and potential role of intermediary associations for public policy implementation (Mayntz 1983) makes it costly for a discipline that has a significant contribution to make to implementation theory, to pay so much more attention to public bureaucracies than, say, to business associations—especially in a time when, thanks not least to organization research, the deficiencies of state-bureaucratic regulation have become so obvious. The more public policies are, actually or potentially, administered through private-public interfaces and organizational networks, the smaller becomes the share of reality that is accessible to an organizational theory of implementation that contents itself with its traditional research subjects.

Another apparent shortcoming of organization theory is its reluctance to adopt a political concept of interest, Private interest governments, or neointermediaries, in addition to being mechanisms of policy corporatist implementation (Lehmbruch 1977), are also in a very specific sense producers "voluntary Contrary to their dominant image as of group interests. organizations", they are much more than passive recipients of preferences put forward by their constituents and clients. Empirical observations of neocorporatist practice, as well as theoretical reasoning, show that organized group interests are not given but emerge as a result of a multifaceted interaction between social and organizational structure--whereby the substance of the collective interest depends at least as much on the way it is as does the structure of the organization on the interest it is to organized, This interactive relationship is only partly described as one of represent. organizational goal formation; at the same time, it is one of collective identity formation (Pizzorno 1978) shaped and constrained by established, licensed, "oligopolistic" (or even monopolistic) organizational structures. Oligarchic staft' interests undoubtedly are one of the factors that affect the outcome, but more important seem to be the properties of an association as its resources--which determine the such--its domain, its structure, institutional context within which group interests and identities are defined and continuously revised. This essentially political view of organizational structure goes beyond traditional concepts of organization centering on the notion of (efficiency and effectiveness), just as it transcends objectivistic concepts of interest which postulate their existence outside and apart from their organization. The empirical phenomenon of private governance, just as it requires political science to take more seriously the notion of organized interests, seems to require organizational analysis to come to better terms with the politics of interests.

Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository European University Institute. The Author(s). 2020. Available C © The Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020.

- 25 -

(2) Organizations and Public Status. The organizational transformation "pluralist" pressure groups into private interest governments is an of essentially political process that is based on both bargaining between group state, and on the (potential or actual) use of state interests and the authority. A typical "path" by which organized interests move into positions incorporation and authority begins with disputes between interest groups of and state agencies on the necessity and the terms of authoritative state intervention into group members' behavior. In many such cases, the mere presence of a state powerful enough, and willing, to establish direct control the already defined interests of organized collectivities an adds to additional and distinctive interest in preventing that control. This additional interest can be so strong that groups may be prepared to compromise on their substantive interests if this can save them from regulatory state interference. State agencies, on the other hand, are often prepared to accept "voluntary" collective self-regulation as an alternative to authoritative state regulation even if this implies certain substantive concessions and a loss of (direct) control on their part. What the state loses in this respect, it can hope to recover through lower implementation costs and higher implementation effectiveness. Note that the substantive and procedural bargaining between the state and organized interests that may give rise to private interest governments would be impossible without the "Damocles sword" of threatened direct state intervention. (Pluralist pressure politices that result in "agency capture" remove this sword or make it ineffective, and it is here--in the strength and continuing relative autonomy of the state--that private interest government differs most strongly from what Lowi has called "sponsored pluralism" (1979, 60).

As a result of their assumption of self-disciplinary responsibilities as private interest governments, interest associations can come to develop a special relationship to the state and the "legal complex" that can be subsumed

under the concept of "political status" (Offe 1981). This involves much more than just a right to be consulted by the government on legislation. Essentially, it means sharing in the state's authority to make and enforce binding decisions. The delegation of such authority to an association in the course of its transformation into a self-regulating agency will normally be reflected in its structure. But private interest governments may also rely on enforcement mechanisms with which they maintain no formal connection whatsoever--consider, for example, an ostensibly "voluntary" standardization agency whose norms are used by the courts in rulings on liability. The peculiar facilitative role of the state with respect to private interest government--which typically is highly indirect, subtle and unobtrusive (Streeck 1979; Streeck et al. 1981)--does not seem to be adequately captured in terms of a relationship between the association and one environment among others. "Public status" refers to the, direct or indirect, acquisition of a unique resource that no other environment but the state has to offer: the ability to rely on legitimate coercion. Organization theory tends to be "state-free" in the sense that it does not systematically recognize this crucial distinction (Hughes 1983)--crucial, in any case, for understanding the emergence of a corporative-associative order. It appears that, in the same way as organization theory may have to incorporate a politial and politicized concept of interest, the reality of modern interest organization confronts it with the need to involve itself more closely with theories of the state.

(3) <u>Organizations and Political-Organizational Design</u>. The emergence of private governments out of pluralist interest representation can in part be reconstructed as the product of direct or indirect, often disintegrated and policy-specific, attempts by state agencies at "political design" (Anderson 1977). State political design of organized private interests is aimed at both the structure of associations as processors of group interests, and their public status; its objective is to keep private interest governments responsive to general or public interests. Withdrawal by the state from direct regulation in favor of "procedurally" (Mayntz 1983) regulated, selfinterested self-regulation, if it is not to result in a loss of public accountability, requires the protection and/or creation of corporativeassociative actors and policy-making arrangements that, by their inherent institutional dynamics, arrive at interest definitions that are, at least in part, compatible with the objectives of public policy-i.e. that produce, in the pursuit of "categoric goods", "public goods" for the society as a whole (cf. Teubner 1978). Otherwise, what may have been intended as a devolution of public responsibility to private group interests will end up as a pluralist "colonization" of the state by the very interests that were to be subjected to public discipline. Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository.

European University Institute.

The Author(s). 020. Available

© The Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020.

Organization theory and research have a crucial contribution to make to the political design of responsible interest intermediaries. For example, a central problem of public control over self-regulating groups is to make organized groups internalize as much as possible the costs of their selfinterested behavior for other interests. This can be achieved either by the facilitation of "encompassing organization" (Olson 1965) which includes and, therefore. internally a wide variety of interests (intrabalances organizational concertation), or by setting up arrangements for bargaining between a spectrum of narrower organizations mandated with reaching mutual agreement (inter-organizational concertation). Political design, then, seems to have some degree of choice between intra- and inter-organizational relations as politically privileged structures for publicly responsible interest accomodation. What is, in a given case, the adequate mixture between the two? To what extent are they functionally equivalent? How much interest diversity can be brought together under the roof of one comprehensive organization? How do the results of intra-organizational interest negotiation differ those of inter-organizational bargaining, given the same from

underlying group interests? And what are the limits, and the possible unintended side-effects, of the authoritative structuring of, and the award of public status to, organized interest groups in a democratic society? The political theory of neo-corporatism has only begun to address these questions; it will have to absorb much more thoroughly the lessons of organization theory if it is to advance in this difficult territory. Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute.

© The Author(s). Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available

THE FUNCTIONAL ADVANTAGES OF PRIVATE INTEREST GOVERNMENT

"Regulated self-regulation" by organized interests seems to be capable of solving a number of problems that have been found to be associated with either state intervention, market competition, or voluntary community action. As far as the state is concerned, two specific deficiencies stand out as of particular importance. One is the limits of legal regulation, especially in terms of the implementation of regulatory programs (Luhman 1981, Teubner 1983, Voigt 1983, Willke 1983). Private interest government provides for a peculiar amalgamation of policy formation on the one hand and policy implementation on the other, within one and the same organizational structure (Lehmbruch 1977). same associations that negotiate the terms of regulation of their The members' behavior, are charged as private governments with responsibility to enforce them. As a result, not only do considerations of enforceability enter directly into the process of policy formation (on the importance of this, see Mayntz 1983), but the agents of implementation-the professional staff and the officials of the association-are closer to the target group (their members) than state bureaucracies, and they have more intimate knowledge of its situation and concerns. It is likely that this enables them to apply rules less formalistically and to take the specific conditions of individual cases better into account--which, in turn, tends to increase the acceptance of regulation by those affected by it (Streeck 1983a).

- 30 -

Another problem with state hierarchic coordination is that it has always \mathcal{V} been associated with specific difficulties of legitimation (Offe 1975). These are basically of two kinds: one involves winning the support and the cooperation of groups that are asked to sacrifice some of their interests in favor of general interests; the other involves presenting a consistent image of the societal role and the "jurisdiction" of legitimate state intervention as such--in other words, a normative definition of the "boundaries" of the modern state. Private interest government, by providing for a close institutionalized interface between public authorities and specific groups in civil society, can make a significant contribution to the solution of both kinds of problems. By turning behavioral regulation into a matter of the organized self-interest of affected groups, it leaves the legitimation of regulatory interference to group representatives who, instead of having to call upon general, society-wide values and obligations, can have recourse to more tangible group-specific norms and interest perceptions. The most wellknown, but by no means the only, example is that of the leaders of a trade union and a business association who defend an industrial agreement as viable and equitable to their respective constituents, with each side using very different arguments and appealing to very different common values. This differentiation of legitimation by conflicting social interests relieves the public government of the need to develop a generally acceptable political formula to defend allocational decisions. It amounts to the utilization, for the purpose of creating public order, of divergent interest perceptions whose ideological integration is difficult or impossible.

Secondly, the notion of collective responsibility of interest organizations for controlling their members in the public interest can serve as a general principle demarcating the limits of direct state responsibility.

one comes close to traditional ideas of the state being only Here. "subsidiary" to society--in the sense that it should content itself with assisting smaller collectivities to help themselves, and intervene directly only if such self-help has turned out to be impossible. Of course, Catholic social doctrine, with its underlying concept of "natural law" and its organic, collectivistic image of society. cannot really provide a normative justification for today's secular corporative-associative structures and practices. The most effective legitimation for a withdrawal of the modern state from substantive regulation to the "procedural" regulation of collective actors (Mayntz 1983) is likely to come from accumulated negative experiences with étatiste modes of policy-making-i.e. is pragmatically and empirically rather than normatively based. One implication of this is that, however important the use of private associability for public policy purposes may be or become, it will consist of a series of pragmatic adjustments within the existing ("liberal", "democratic", "capitalist") system of government, not in the latter's wholesale replacement with an "associative" or "corporatist" system (Olsen 1981).

Concerning markets, their obvious and often analysed problem is that the unregulated interaction of self-interested parties may fail to produce certain collective or categoric goods which are a necessary precondition for an effective functioning of the market ("market failure"). In such cases, the rational behavior of market participants needs to be subjected to some form of authoritative control--exercised either by the state or by some other agent-to prevent it from becoming self-destructive. Furthermore, free competition may result in social cleavages and inequalities that give rise in turn to action "distorting" the market. "pluralist" collective aimed at "Factionalism" of this kind is not easy to suppress in a democratic society; a state that would try to do so would have to be so autonomous that it would in effect cease to be democratic (6). In this sense, economic liberalism and

political democracy are indeed ultimately incompatible, as has been argued by observers from both the right (von Hayek 1976-78) and the left (Goldthorpe The neo-corporatist transformation of pluralist interest groups into 1983). publicly responsible self-regulating bodies can be seen, from this perspective, as an attempt not only to provide for the production of categoric/collective goods by other, and more effective, means than state regulation; it is also an attempt to impose discipline on the inevitable factions that arise in a democratic polity combined with a market economy, make organized interest politics more compatible with the and, thereby, to requirements of the market.

Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

◎ The Author(s). European University Institute. Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available Open Access on Cadmus, Eur

Finally, the Achilles heel of community action is that it lacks authoritative means to mobilize resources above and beyond what can be obtained on a voluntary basis. This is a problem that is particularly relevant the less normatively integrated communities are, and there is reason believe that with increasing mobility of individuals and cultural to identities, the sense of altruistic obligation--of "other-regardingness"--has tended to become weaker in most social groups. In fact, this is precisely the rationale behind the modern transfer of traditional community welfare functions to a growing "welfare state". Moreover, communities can be parochial in that their values and accepted mutual obligations may be at odds with the values and requirements of society at large. The backing by public authority of strong intermediary organizations representing specific social groups may offer a way of increasing the latter's self-regulating capacity beyond the limits of voluntarism, and of guiding their collective behavior in with general rather than exclusively group-specific values and accordance interests.

Interest associations that have been transformed into private interest governments compensate for a number of specific state, market and community failures. By relieving the three other orders of problems they are less well

Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository. European University Institute. Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available The Author(s).

equipped to solve, they not only do not preempt them but in fact contribute to their respective functioning. A state that withdraws, in selected areas, from direct to procedural control does not become as weak state; in terms of the effectiveness of its policies, it may in fact gain in strength. Similarly, markets in order to be efficient mechanisms of allocation need to be protected from distortion by pluralist interest politics, and they require regulatory constraints on competitive behavior as a precondition of stable, long term exchange and competition (e.g. in areas like technical standardization or vocational training). Finally, communities in a society with a strong state and a free market can better preserve their cultural identities and bring them to bear on the political process if they are effectively organized so as to command more and other resources than those that modern communities can generate on their own.

PRIVATE INTEREST GOVERNMENT AS A "MIXED MODE" OF POLICY-MAKING

It is important to emphasize that the state is not absent in the associational mode of social order, and nor is the market or the community. Corporative-associative order emerges in thoroughly "mixed" polities. Typically, institutions of private interest governance are geared to selected sectors, industries and policy areas--with other collectivities and issues being directly governed by the state, left to the forces of the market, or taken care of by community action. Moreover, community, market and state constitute important limiting and facilitating conditions for and inside any given associative arrangement, and without them such arrangements could not exist and function. While we believe that the same can be said, respectively, for each of the four modes of order, we will in the following focus

- 33 -

exclusively on private interest governments and their relationship to the three others.

- 34 -

State. Interest associations can usually govern the interests of their members only with some kind of state facilitation and authorization. At the very least, private interest government requires an Ordungspolitik of deliberate abstention from interference with the exercise of authority by powerful associations over their members. Where the state strictly upholds the right of individuals not to be organized and not to be subject to any coercion other than that exercised by the state itself, a corporativeassociative order cannot exist. As a rule, however, mere abstention is not enough. The power of associations to govern does not normally arise spontaneously from the process of civil associability. To turn into private interest governments, associations need to be supplied with more and stronger authority than they can possibly mobilize by themselves on a voluntary basis. In fact, the limits to autonomous mobilization of authority, just as of other resources such as money, organizational stability and effective recognition, are an important reason why associations are often prepared to trade some of their members' interests against public status when it is offered to them by the state (Streeck 1982). State facilitation of organizational development and the institutionalization of interest associations can take a wide variety of forms, and usually they are much less conspicuous than in a country like where there is compulsory organization of industry, commerce, Austria agriculture and labour in their respective Chambers.

An active role of the state is necessary in yet another respect. One important mechanism by which private interest governments are kept responsive to wider societal needs is the threat by the state to intervene directly if the group fails to adjust the behavior of its members to the public interest. In this sense, the public use of private organized interests requires a strong rather than a weak state. It is true that an associative social order implies

Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository European University Institute. © The Author(s). Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available

a devolution of state functions to interest intermediaries. But this has to be accompanied by a simultaneous acquisition by the state of a capacity to keep in check the new self-regulating systems design. monitor. and ("procedural control", Mayntz 1983). Moreover, reliance on associative selfregulation in specific cases and at a given time must not undermine the state's general capacity to resort to direct regulation if it so decides; otherwise, an important source of strength for the state in bargaining with organized interests over their acceptance of obligations to the society as a It is only to the extent that the state-by a combination whole disappears. of procedural, instead of substantive, regulation with a credible threat of private governments at least partially intervention-can hold direct accountable to the public, that the associative-corporative mode of social order can become a legitimate alternative to communitarianism, étatisme and market liberalism.

<u>Market</u>. Private governments do not <u>per se</u> eliminate competition. In all Western countries, legal rules about "restraint of trade" impose limits on associations interfering with the market. In principle at least, the subjects of private governments remain free to engage in contractual relations with each other and with members of other groups. Group self-regulation is concerned with the non-contractual preconditions, not with the substitution of private contracts. It is true that such regulation, just as state regulation, often extends to the substantive context of private-law contracts; but it is also true, even in the labour market, that there always remains a significant area of discretion for individual contracting parties ("wage drift") that is protected from associative interference.

The market order continues to be present also in a political sense. The emergence of private interest government is closely related to the acquisition by formerly "voluntary" interest associations of organizational privileges that protect them from competition for members and resources. The element of

- 35 -

interest-political "monopoly" that is inherent in all such arrangements must, however. be seen in perspective. Even associations with compulsory membership, such as continental Chambers of Commerce, depend to a significant extent on voluntary contributions and voluntary compliance by their members. Refusal to participate in associational bodies and to support associational policies remains a strong sanction in the hands of the membership. The authority of private interest governments to compell, even where it is strong, is never strong enough to exempt associations completely from the need to mobilize, on a voluntary basis and in competition with other institutions and collective actors, additional political resources and loyalties. For such mobilization to be possible, associational policies, for all their undoubted autonomy, must be attractive enough to the members to be competitive in the political market — a market that, while it may be highly oligopolistic, nevertheless remains a market.

Private interest governments, however much facilitated and Comunity. institutionalized by state authority, must be rooted in the values and interest perceptions of existing social collectivities. The (organized) collectivities that are to be drawn into public status cannot be arbitrarily created by state decree; they must have some kind of prior, independent This does not mean that they have to be intact existence and identity. communities; as their organizations acquire further "external" means of control through their assumption of public status, their collective capacity and exercise internal discipline depends not only on normative act to Similarly, the interest perceptions of collectivities that are integration. potential subjects of group governance need not by themselves be clear and unambiguous enough to guide group collective action; in fact, they may become authoritative (re-)definition by professional, manifest only through "established" representatives with monopolistic status. Nevertheless, the leaders of private interest governments, in asking for the compliance of their

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

The Author(s). European University Institute.

constituents to concerted pacts, must be able to draw on some kind of shared norms and collective identity which they cannot create, and the members must recognize in the policies of their leaders some reflection of what they themselves regard as their interests. Moreover, the value systems supporting corporative-associative institutions must include some residual commitment to the society at large that goes beyond the boundaries of just one interest aggregate. Such commitments—for example, to professional norms of good performance or to a group's prestige and respect with other groups—can be, and are likely to be, reinforced by organizational efforts to build a collective identity; but where they are not even residually present, and where community values and identities are exclusively self-regarding and selfsufficient, corporative-associative arrangements become extremely tenuous and unstable.

CONCLUSION

Private interest government is not about to replace community, market Even where a large share of public policy is made by and and state. implemented through intermediary associations, these are always to some important extent dependent on community values and cohesion, kept in check by economic and political market forces, and subject to hierarchical control, political design and the pressure of possible direct state intervention. Moreover, not all social groups and political issues lend themselves equally well to associational self-regulation, and there undoubtedly are social order problems in modern societies for which the three competing institutions offer The idea of a comprehensive corporativeappropriate solutions. more social associative political "system" is therefore fundamentally or At the same time, there is growing evidence that there is a misleading.

certain range of policy areas for which institutions of group self-regulation may produce more socially adjusted and normatively acceptable results than either communal self-help, free trade, or <u>étatisme</u>. Empirical research and theoretical reflection on the preconditions of successful utilization, in a "mixed polity", of corporative associability for public policy purposes has only begun. Increased efforts in this direction may make it possible to employ more consciously an additional mode of ordering social relationships that compensates for important dysfunctions of community, market and state, and may thus significantly enrich the policy repertory of modern societies.

*

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020. Available Open Access on Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

The Author(s). European University Institute.

FOOTNOTES

(1) Actually, it would be more accurate to call it "the Corporative Association" since it differs significantly from "the Voluntary Association" which preceded it in social and political theory. If the concept, "corporation", had not already been appropriated for use to describe a particular type of market institution, we would have preferred to use that term. We were tempted to invent a new noun, "the Corporative", to replace "the Association", but declined to do so on the grounds that there were already too many neo-logisms in this kind of field and that it would, in any case, probably be confused with "the Corporation" or "the Cooperative". European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute

Author(s). Available

The /

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020.

Cadmus,

0N (

Open Access

- (2) A similar argument has recently been put forward by Colin Crouch (1981), in a paper from which the present one has greatly profitted.
- (3) For a more detailed discussion of the legitimation problems of a corporative-associative order, see Schmitter 1983.
- (4)Part of the relevant literature has been reviewed by Olsen (1981), label of "integrated organizational participation in under the government". Related concepts--of which each stands for another unending list of publications--are "para-state government", "publicprivate interface", "quangoes", etc. It is impossible to cite all or most of the studies that have in one way or another influenced the ideas presented in this article. A list of recent empirical studies on interest associations as contributors to public policy and social order Ackermann (1981) and other research reports from the includes: Forschungs projekt Parastaatliche Verwaltung at the Eidgenossische Technische Hochschule, especially Nos. 5, 7, 9, 12 and 13; Atkinson and Coleman (1983); Boddewyn (1981); Coleman and Jacek (1983); Grant (1983a, b); Jacobsson (1983); Ronge (1980); Sargent (1983); Streeck (1983b); Traxler (1983); de Vroom (1983); van Waarden (1983); Willmott (1983). Some of these studies were carried out in the context of a multi-national research project on "The Organization of Business Interests" that is coordinated by the authors (Schmitter and Streeck 1981).
- (5) That it is possible is admitted even by such a formidable critic of "distributional coalitions" as Mancur Olson: "Occasionally there are... situations in which the constituents of special-interest organizations seek to increase social efficiency because they would get a lion's share of the gain in output; this occurs when the special-interest organization provides a collective good to its members that increases their production efficiency and also when it gets the government to provide some public good that generates more income than costs, yet mainly benefits those in the special-interest group" (Olson 1982, 46).
- (6)This seems to be the central "policy" problem in Mancur Olson's recent book, The Rise and Decline of Nations (1982). While Olson demonstrates convincingly the allocational superiority of free competition, his sophisticated knowledge of interest politics prevents him from siding with economists like Milton Friedman in their call for a laissez-faire Olson is well aware of the fact that a free market in liberal state. continuous, vigourous state order to remain free, requires He even goes as far as to say that, "the absence of intervention. government intervention (even if it were invariably desirable) may not

be possible anyway, because of the lobbying of special-interest groups, unless we fly to the still greater evil of continuous instability" (178). But Olson stops still short of explaining what kind of interventionist policy he recommends to governments in relation to group interests, and how a state would have to look like in order to provide politically for "freer trade and fewer impediments to the free novement of factors of production and of firms" (141). Olson does not, at least not explicitly, argue in favor of state support and facilitation of "comprehensive organization" which for him is no more than a second-best solution. Nor does he advocate the abolishment through government repression of the democratic freedom of association. But he does quote Thomas Jefferson's remark that "the tree of liberty must be refreshed from time to time with the blood of patriots and tyrants" (on p. 141)—the latter clearly being, in the context of Olson's argument, the "private tyrants" that govern a society's "distributional coalitions".

and a second sec

- Malode all out choose class play he of all all on a second seco

add cleg dd sache onto the presion to interstante provide the second

Anter and a second of the second of the second of the second field of the second of th

Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute.

© The Author(s).

Open Access on

Available

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020.

REFERENCES

- Ackermann, Ch., 1981: "Die Ausbildungsreglementierung fuer Lehrberufe. Falluntersuchungen ueber verbandliche Selbstregulierung und staatliche Steuerung in der Berufsausbildung". Projektbericht Nr. 16 zum Forschungsprojekt Parastaatliche Verwaltung: Die Erfuellung oeffentlicher Aufgaben durch private und halbstaatliche Institutionen, Institut fuer Orts-, Regional- und Landesplanung der Eidgenoessischen Technischen Hochschule Zuerich, September 1981.
- Anderson, Ch.W., 1977: "Political Design and the Representation of Interests". <u>Comparative Political Studies</u>, 10: 127-152. Also in: Schmitter and Lehmbruch, eds., 1979.
- Atkinson, M.M., and Coleman, W.D., 1983: "Corporatism and Industrial Policy". Paper presented to the Sixth EGOS Colloquium, Florence, November 3-5, 1983.
- Bauer, M., and Cohen, E., 1981: Qui gouverne les Groupes Industriels?. Paris: Seuil.
- Berger, S., ed., 1981: Organizing Interests in Western Europe: Pluralism, Corporatism and the Transformation of Politics. Camridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Boddewyn, J.J., 1981: "Advertising Regulation, Self-Regulation and Self-Discipline Around the World". Journal of International Marketing, 1: 46-55.
- Buxbaum, J.M., 1981: The Corporate Politeia. A Conceptual Approach to Business, Government and Society. Washington D.C.: University Press of America Inc.
- Coleman, W.D., and Jacek, H.J., 1983: "The Roles and Activities of Business Interest Associations in Canada". Canadian Journal of Political Science, 16: 257-280.
- Crouch, C., 1981: "State, Market and Organization: A Classification of the Contribution of Neo-Corporatist Theory". Mimeo. Forthcoming, in an Italian translation, in: Stato e Mercato.
- Crouch, C., and Pizzorno, A., eds., 1978: The Resurgence of Class Conflict in Western Europe since 1968. 2 vols. London: MacMillan.
- Gilb, C.L., 1966: Hidden Hierarchies. The Professions and Government. New York and London: Harper and Row.
- Goldthorpe, J.H., 1983: "The End of Convergence: Corporatist and Dualist Tendencies in Modern Western Societies". In: J.H. Goldthorpe, ed., forthcoming.
- Coldthorpe, J.H., ed., forthcoming, Order and Conflict in Western Capitalism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Grant, W., 1983a: "Gotta Lotta Bottle: Corporatism, the Public and the Private and the Milk Marketing System in Britain". Paper presented at the ECPR Joint Session, workshop on 'The Public and the Private', Freiburg, March 1983. <u>Sussex Working Papers on</u> Corporatism, No. 3, April 1983.
- Grant, W., 1983b: "Private Organizations as Agents of Public Policy: the Case of Milk Marketing in Britain". Paper presented at the Sixth EGOS Colloquium, Florence, November 3-5, 1983.
- von Hayek, F.A., 1976-78: Law, Legislation and Liberty. A New Statement of the Liberal Principles of Justice and Political Economy. 3 vols. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Cadmus, European University Institute Research Repository

European University Institute.

Open Access on

The Author(s).

Digitised version produced by the EUI Library in 2020.

- Hughes, M., 1983: "Debureaucratization: The British State and Economic Policy". Paper presented at the Sixth EGOS Colloquium, Florence, November 3-5, 1983.
- Jacobsson, B., 1983: "Organized Interests and Political Control". Paper presented at the Sixth EGOS Colloquium, Florence, November 3-5, 1983.
- Lakoff, S.A., and Rich, D., eds., 1973: Private Government. Glenview, Illinois: Scott, Foresman and Company.
- Lehmbruch, G., 1977: "Liberal Corporatism and Party Government". <u>Comparative Political Studies</u>, 10: 91-126. Also in: Schmitter and <u>Lehmbruch</u>, eds., 1979.
- Lehmbruch, G., and Schmitter, Ph.C., eds., 1982: Patterns of Corporatist Policy-Making. New York and London: Sage Publications.
- Lowi, Th., 1979: The End of Liberalism (2nd ed.). New York: W.W. Norton.

Luhmann, N., 1981: Politische Theorie im Wohlfahrstaat. Muenchen: Piper.

- Macauley, S., 1983: "Private Government". DPRP Working Paper, 1983-6, University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Mayntz, R., 1983: "The Conditions of Effective Public Policy: A New Challenge for Policy Analysis". Policy and Politics, 11: 123-143.
- McConnell, G., 1966: Private Power and American Democracy. New York: Alfred C. Knopf.
- Offe, C., 1975: "Uberlegungen und Hypothesen zum Problem politischer Legitimation." Beitrag zum Duisburger Kongress der DVPW, 1975. Mimeo.
- Offe, C., 1981: "The Attribution of Public Status to Interest Groups. Observations on the West German Case". In: S. Berger, ed., 1981, 123-158.
- Olsen, J.P., 1981: "Integrated Organizational Participation in Government". In: P.C. Nystrom and W.H. Starbuck, eds., Handbook of Organizational Design. Oxford: Oxford University Press, vol. 2, 492-516.

- Olson, M., 1982: The Rise and Decline of Nations. Economic Growth, Stagflation and Social Rigidities. New Haven and London: Yale University Press.
- Pizzorno, A., 1978: "Political Exchange and Collective Identity". In: Crouch, C., and A. Pizzorno, eds., 1978, vol. 2, 278 ff.
- Ronge, V., ed., 1980: Am Staat vorbei. Politik der Selbstregulierung von Kapital und Arbeit. Frankfurt am Main: Campus.
- Sargent, J., 1983: The Politics of the Pharmaceutical Price Regulation Scheme". Discussion Paper IIM/LMP 83-13. Berlin: Wissenschaftszentrum.
- Schmitter, Ph.C., 1974: "Still the Century of Corporatism?", The Review of Politics, 36: 85-131. Also in: Schmitter and Lehmbruch, eds., 1979.
- Schmitter, Ph.C., 1977: "Modes of Interest Intermediation and Models of Societal Change in Western Europe". Comparative Political Studies, 10: 7-38.
- Schmitter, Ph.C., 1983: "Democratic Theory and Neo-Corporatist Practice, Working Paper No. 74, Florence: European University Institute.
- Schmitter, Ph.C., and G. Lehmbruch, eds., 1979: Trends Towards Corporatist Intermediation. New York and London: Sage Publications.
- Schmitter, Ph.C., and W. Streeck, 1981: "The Organization of Business Interests. A Research Design to Study the Associative Actin of Business in the Advanced Industrial Societies of Western Europe". Discussion Paper IIM/LMP 81-13, Berlin: Wissenschaftszentrum.
- Streeck, W., 1979: "Gewerkschaftsorganisation und industrielle Beziehungen". In: J. Matthes, ed., Sozialer Wandel in Westeuropa. Verhandlungen des 19. Deutschen Soziologentags. Frankfurt am Main: Campus.
- Streeck, W., 1982: "Organizational Consequences of Corporatist Cooperation in West German Labor Unions". In: G. Lehmbruch and Ph.C. Schmitter, eds., 1981, 29-81.
- Streeck, W., 1983a: "Zwischen Markt und Staat. Interessenverbaende als Traeger œffentlicher Politik". In: F.W. Scharpf and M. Brockmann, eds., 1983: <u>Institutionelle Bedinungen der</u> <u>Arbeitsmarkt- und Beschaeftigungspolitik</u>. Frankfurt am Main: Campus, 179-197.
- Streeck, W., 1983b: "Die Reform der beruflichen Bildung in der westdeutschen Bauwirtschaft 1969-1982. Eine Fallstudie ueber Verbaende als Traeger oeffentlicher Politik". Discussion Paper IIM/LMP 83-23. Berlin: Wissenschaftszentrum.

-44-

- Streeck, W., P. Seglow, and P. Wallace, 1981: "Competition and Monopoly in Interest Representation". Organization Studies, 2: 307-330.
- Teubner, G., 1978: Organisationsdemokratie und Verbandsverfassung. Rechtsmodelle fuer politisch relevante Verbaende. Tuebingen: Mohr.
- Teubner, G., (1983): "Substantive and Reflective Elements in Modern Law". Law and Society Review, 17: 239-285.
- Thompson, D.L., 1983: "Public-Private Policy: An Introduction". Policy Studies Journal, 11:419-426.
- Traxler, F., 1983: "Prerequisites, Problem-Solving Capacity and Restrictions of Self-Regulation: A Case Study of Social Autonomy in the Austrian Milk Industry". Paper presented at the Sixth EGOS Colloquium, Florence, November 3-5, 1983.
- Voigt, R., ed., 1983: Gegentendenzen zur Verrechtlichung. Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag.
- de Vroom, B., 1983: "Quality Regulation in the Dutch Industry. Problems and Conditions of Private Government". Paper presented at the Sixth EGOS Colloquium, Florence, November 3-5, 1983.
- van Waarden, F., 1983: "Bureaucracy Around the State. Varieties of Collective Self-Regulation in the Dutch Dairy Industry". Paper presented at the Sixth EGOS Colloquium, Florence, November 3-5, 1983.
- Willke, H., 1983: Entzauberung des Staates: Uberlegungen zu einer sozietalen Steuerungstheorie. Koenigstein: Athenaeum.
- Willmott, H., 1983: "Setting Accounting Standards in the UK: The Emergence of Private Accounting Bodies and their Role in the Regulation of Public Accounting Practice". Paper presented at the Sixth EGOS Colloquium, Florence, November 3-5, 1983.

PUBLICATIONS OF THE EUROPEAN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE

EUI WORKING PAPERS :

| No. | 1 | : | Jacques PELKMANS |
|-----|---|---|-----------------------------------|
| No. | 2 | : | Joseph H.H. WEILER |
| No. | 3 | : | Aldo RUSTICHINI |
| No. | 4 | : | Mauro CAPPELLETTI/ David GOLAY |
| No. | 5 | : | Leonard GLESKE |
| No. | 6 | : | Manfred HINZ |
| No. | 7 | : | Wilhelm BURKLIN |

No. 8 : Athanasios MOULAKIS No. 9 : Manfred E. STREIT

- No. 10: Kumaraswamy VELUPILLAI
- No. 11: Kumaraswamy VELUPILLAI
- No. 12: Kumaraswamy VELUPILLAI Guglielmo CHIODI
- No. 13: Gunther TEUBNER
- No. 14: Gunther TEUBNER
- No. 15: Jens ALBER
- No. 16: Ian BUDGE

The European Community and the Newly Industrialized Countries

Supranationalism Revisited - Retrospective and Prospective. The European Communities After Thirty Years

Seasonality in Eurodollar Interest Rates

Judicial Review, Transnational and Federal: Impact on Integration

The European Monetary System: Present Situation and Future Prospects

Massenkult und Todessymbolik in der nazional-sozialistischen Architektur

The "Greens" and the "New Politics": Goodbye to the Three-Party System?

Unilateralism or the Shadow of Confusion

Information Processing in Futures Markets. An Essay on the Adequacy of an Abstraction

When Workers Save and Invest: Some Kaldorian Dynamics

A Neo-Cambridge Model of Income Distribution and Unemployment

On Lindahl's Theory of Distribution

Reflexive Rationalität des Rechts

Substantive and Reflexive Elements in Modern Law

Some Causes and Consequences of Social Security Expenditure Development in Western Europe, 1949-1977

Democratic Party Government: Formation and Functioning in Twenty-one Countries

132.2

European University Institute.

S

uthor

The Au

| No. | 17: | Hans DAALDER | Pa In |
|-----|-----|-----------------------------------|----------|
| No. | 18: | Giuseppe DI PALMA | Pa |
| No. | 19: | Richard S. KATZ | Pa |
| No. | 20: | Jürg STEINER | De |
| | | | A ti |
| No. | 21: | Jens ALBER | T |
| | | | G |
| No. | 22: | Don PATINKIN | Pa |
| No. | 23: | Marcello DE CECCO | I: E |
| No. | 24: | Marcello DE CECCO | T |
| No. | 25: | Manfred E. STREIT | M T |
| No. | 26: | Domenico Mario NUTI | Е |
| | | | P |
| No. | 27: | Terence C. DAINTITH | L |
| No. | 28: | Francis C. CASTLES/ Peter MAIR | L J |
| No. | 29: | Karl HOHMANN | Т |
| | | | t |
| | 20 | en i se come great l'easte | i |
| NO. | 30: | Max KAASE | T |
| No. | 31: | Klaus TOEPFER | Р |
| | | | E |
| | | | R |
| No. | 32: | Ronald INGLEHART | T V |
| | | | P |
| No. | 33: | Moshe LISSAK | В |
| | | | E C |
| | | | |

Jean-Paul FITOUSSI

No. 34:

Parties and Political Mobilization: An Initial Mapping

Party Government and Democratic Reproducibility: The Dilemma of New Democracies

Party Government: A Rationalistic Conception

Decision Process and Policy Outcome: An Attempt to Conceptualize the Problem at the Cross-National Level

The Emergence of Welfare Classes in West Germany: Theoretical Perspectives and Empirical Evidence

Paul A. Samuelson and Monetary Theory

Inflation and Structural Change in the Euro-Dollar Market

The Vicious/Virtuous Circle Debate in the '20s and the '70s

Modelling, Managing and Monitoring Futures Trading: Frontiers of Analytical Inquiry

Economic Crisis in Eastern Europe -Prospects and Repercussions

Legal Analysis of Economic Policy

Left-Right Political Scales: Some Expert Judgements

The Ability of German Political Parties to Resolve the Given Problems: the Situation in 1982

The Concept of Political Culture: Its Meaning for Comparative Political Research

Possibilities and Limitations of a Regional Economic Development Policy in the Federal Republic of Germany

The Changing Structure of Political Cleavages Among West European Elites and Publics

Boundaries and Institutional Linkages Between Elites: Some Illustrations from Civil-Military Elites in Israel

Modern Macroeconomic Theory An Overview

- 2 -

The

| - 0 | 3 | |
|-----|---|-----|
| | | 100 |

| No. | 35: | Richard M. GOODWIN/ |
|-----|-----|------------------------|
| | | Kumaraswamy VELUPILLAI |
| No. | 36: | Maria MAGUIRE |

- No. 37: G. Lowell FIELD John Higley
- No. 38: Dietrich HERZOG
- Edward O. LAUMANN No. 39: David KNOKE
- No. 40: Gwen MOORE/ Richard D. ALBA
- No. 41: Peter MAIR
- No. 42: Joseph H.H. WEILER
- No. 43: Franz Urban PAPPI
- No. 44: Thomas GAWRON Ralf ROGOWSKI
- No. 45: Alexis PAULY René DIEDERICH
- No. 46: Alessandra VENTURINI
- No. 47: Richard A. GOODWIN
- No. 48: J.P. FITOUSSI/ Daniel SZPIRO
- Bruno DE WITTE No. 49:

Economic Systems and their Regulation

The Growth of Income Maintenance Expenditure in Ireland, 1951-1979

The States of National Elites and the Stability of Political Institutions in 81 Nations, 1950-1982

New Protest Elites in the Political System of West Berlin: The Eclipse of Consensus?

A Framework for Concatenated Event Analysis

Class and Prestige Origins in the American Elite

Issue-Dimensions and Party Strategies in the Irish Republic, 1948 - 1981: The Evidence of Manifestos

Israel and the Creation of a Palestine State. The Art of the Impossible and the Possible THE PARTY STORE STORE A MAY

Boundary Specification and Structural Models of Elite Systems: Social Circles Revisited

Zur Implementation von Gerichtsurteilen Hypothesen zu den Wirkungsbedingungen von Entscheidungen des Bundesverfassungsgerichts

Migrant Workers and Civil Liberties

Is the Bargaining Theory Still an Effective Framework of Analysis for Strike Patterns in Europe?

Schumpeter: The Man I Knew

Politique de l'Emploi et Réduction de la Durée du Travail

Retour à Costa. La Primauté du Droit Communautaire à la Lumière du Droit International

No. 50: Massimo A. BENEDETTELLI

Eguaglianza e Libera Circolazione dei Lavoratori: Principio di Eguaglianza e Divieti di Discriminazione nella Giurisprudenza Comunitaria in Materia di Diritti di Mobilità Territoriale e Professionale dei Lavoratori

Corporate Responsibility as a Problem of Company Constitution

Potentials and Limits of Economic Analysis: The Constitution of the Firm

Career and Recruitment Patterns of Italian Legislators. A Contribution to the Understanding of a Polarized Political System

How to Become a Cabinet Minister in Italy: Unwritten Rules of the Political Game

The Structure of the Spanish Power Elite 1939-1979

Preferences in Policy Optimization and Optimal Economic Policy

Bureaucratic Rationalities and the Prospect for Party Government

Reassessing Consumer Safety Regulations

The Sanctions Problem: International and European Perspectives

Adjusting to Competitive Depression. The Case of the Reduction in Working Time

Idéologie et Morale Bourgeoise de la Famille dans le <u>Ménagier de Paris</u> et le <u>Second</u> <u>Libro de Famiglia</u>, de L.B. Alberti

Die Dichter und das Kritisieren

Law and Social Conflict

Italian Monetary Policy in the 1980s

Intraindustry Trade in Two Areas: Some Aspects of Trade Within and Outside a Custom Union

Euromarkets and Monetary Control: The Deutschemark Case

No. 51: Gunther TEUBNER

No. 52: Erich SCHANZE

No. 53: Maurizio COTTA

- No. 54: Mattei DOGAN
- No. 55: Mariano BAENA DEL ALCAZAR/ Narciso PIZARRO
- No. 56: Berc RUSTEM/ Kumaraswamy VELUPILLAI
- No. 57: Giorgio FREDDI

No. 58: Manfred E. STREIT

- No. 59: Christopher HILL/ James MAYALL
- No. 60: Jean-Paul FITOUSSI

No. 61: Philippe LEFORT

| No. | 62: | Peter BROCKMEIER |
|-----|-----|-----------------------|
| No. | 63: | Hans-Martin PAWLOWSKI |
| No. | 64: | Marcello DE CECCO |
| No. | 65: | Giampaolo ROSSINI |
| | | |

No. 66: Wolfgang GEBAUER

| No. | 67: | Gerd WEINRICH |
|-----|-----|--|
| No. | 68: | Saul ESTRIN/ Derek C. JONES |
| No. | 69: | Berc RUSTEM/ Kumaraswamy VELUPILLAI |
| No. | 70: | Werner MAIHOFER |
| No. | 71: | Samuel COHN |
| No. | 72: | Wolfgang GEBAUER |
| No. | 73: | Patrick NERHOT |
| No. | 74: | Philippe C. SCHMITTER |
| No. | 75: | Sheila A. CHAPMAN |
| No. | 76: | Richard GRIFFITHS |
| | | |
| No. | 77: | Scott NEWION |
| No. | 78: | Giorgio FODOR |
| No. | 79: | Philippe MIOCHE |
| | | |
| No. | 80: | Werner ABELSHAUSER |
| No. | 81: | Helge PHARO |
| No. | 82: | Heiner R. ADAMSEN |
| No. | 83: | Jean BOUVIER |
| No. | 84: | Mariuccia SALVATI |

On the Theory of Effective Demand under Stochastic Rationing

The Effects of Worker Participation upon Productivity in French Producer Cooperatives

On the Formalization of Political Preferences: A Contribution to the Frischian Scheme?

Politique et Morale

Five Centuries of Dying in Siena: Comparisons with Southern France

Inflation and Interest: the Fisher Theorem Revisited

Rationalism and the Modern State

Democratic Theory and Neo-Corporatist Practice

Eastern Hard Currency Debt 1970-83. An Overview

Economic Reconstruction Policy in the Netherlands and its International Consequences, May 1945 - March 1951

The 1949 Sterling Crisis and British Policy towards European Integration

Why did Europe need a Marshall Plan in 1947?

The Origins of the Monnet Plan: How a Transistory Experiment answered to Deep-Rooted Needs

The Economic Policy of Ludwig Erhard

The Domestic and International Implications of Norwegian Reconstruction

Investitionspolitik in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland 1949-1951

Le Plan Monnet et l'Economie Française 1947-1952

Industrial and Economic Policy in the Italian Reconstruction

No. 85: William DIEBOLD, Jr

No. 86: Frances LYNCH No. 87: Gunther TEUBNER

No. 88: Marina SPINEDI

No. 89: Jelle VISSER

NO. 90: Will EARTLETT

No. 91: Wolfgang GEBAUER

No. 92: Elisabeth DE CHEILINCK, Paul A. GEROSKI Alexis JACQUEMIN

No. 93: Gunther TEUBNER, Helmut WILLKE

No. 94: Wolfgang STREECK, Philippe C. SCHMITTER

No. 95: Nigel GRIFFIN

No. 96: Andreas KUNZ

No. 97: Wolfgang STREECK

Trade and Payments in Western Europe in Historical Perspective: A Personal View by an Interested Party

French Reconstruction in a European Context

Verrechtlichung Begriffe, Merkmale, Grenzen Auswege

Les Crimes Internationaux de l'Etat dans les Travaux de Codification de la Responsabilité des Etats Entrepris par les Nations Unies

Dimensions of Union Growth in Postwar Western Europe

Unemployment, Migration and Industrialization in Yugoslavia, 1958-1977

Kondratieff's Long Waves

- 6 -

Inter-Industry and Inter-Temporal Variations in the Effect of Trade on Industry Performance

Kontext und Autonomie Gesellschaftliche Selbststeuerung Durch Reflexives Recht

Community, Market, State / and Associations?

"Virtue Versus Letters": The Society of Jesus 1550-1580 and the Export of an Idea

Arbeitsbeziehungen und Arbeitskonflikte im öffentlichen Sektor Deutschland und Großbritannien im Vergleich 1914-1924

Neo-Corporatist Industrial Relations and the Economic Crisis in West Cermany



